
 

359 Main Street | Wolfville | NS | B4P 1A1 |  t 902-542-5767 | f 902-542-4789 

Wolfville.ca 

Town Council Meeting 
April 16, 2024 

7:30 p.m. 
Council Chambers, Town Hall 

359 Main Street 
  

Agenda 
Call to Order 
 

1. Approval of Agenda 
 

2. Approval of Minutes 
a. Town Council Meeting, March 19, 2024 
b. Special Town Council Meeting, March 27, 2024 

 
3. Comments from the Mayor 

 
4. Public Input / Question Period 

PLEASE NOTE: 
o Public Participation is limited to 30 minutes 
o Each Person is limited to 3 minutes and may return to speak once, for 

1 minute, if time permits within the total 30-minute period  
o Questions or comments are to be directed to the Chair  
o Comments and questions that relate to personnel, current or 

potential litigation issues, or planning issues for which a public 
hearing has already occurred, but no decision has been made by 
Council, will not be answered. 

 
5. Motions/Recommendations from Committee of the Whole, 

March 5, 2024: 
a. RFD 016-2023 Devour Amended MOU Capital Grant 



 

359 Main Street | Wolfville | NS | B4P 1A1 |  t 902-542-5767 | f 902-542-4789 

Wolfville.ca 

 
6. Motions/Recommendations from Committee of the Whole April 

2, 2024: 
a. RFD 017-2024: Policy#110-010, Public Input Policy 

Amendments 
b. RFD 018-2024: Policy#110-015, Presentation to Council 

Policy 
c. RFD 019-2024: Policy#120-006, Flag Flying Policy 

Amendments 
d. RFD 020-2024: Repeal of Policy#120-012, Town & Gown 

Policy  
e. RFD 021-2024: Spring Debenture Pre-Approval 
f. RFD 024-2024: Welcome Centre Extra Costs for Unsuitable 

Soils 
 

7. Motions/Recommendations from Special Committee of the 
Whole April 16, 2024: 

a. RFD 025-2024 East End Gateway Parking Lot Budget 
Amendment 
 

8. Regular Meeting Adjourned 



REQUEST FOR DECISION 016-2024 
Title: Slow Motion Food Film Fest Society amended MOU 
Date: 2024-03-05 
Department: Planning & Economic Development  
 

 
Request for Decision, Page 1 of 6 

SUMMARY 

Slow Motion Food Film Fest Society (Devour) - One Time Capital Request MOU – 
Timing Amendment + Project Update 

 
Slow Motion Food Film Society (Devour! The Food Film Fest) received a one-time capital grant from the 
Town in 2021 (see attached original MOU and reports). The one-time capital grant was based on 
Devour! completing a universal (accessible) public washroom and a large deck on the north side of the 
building (see drawings included in this report for context).  

Although renovations of the Devour! complex are substantially underway, the main deliverables have 
not been able to be completed on schedule, as per the original MOU, and Devour! is requesting an 
extension. Section 2.1 of the original MOU states the following about the 2 key elements of the funding: 

 

 

 
DRAFT MOTION: 

That Council approve the attached MOU amendment and direct the CAO to sign and execute this 
amendment, along with other forthcoming enabling documents (agreement detailing the scope of 
work/sewer line for the deck and amended Rail Line Lease).  



REQUEST FOR DECISION 016-2024 
Title: Slow Motion Food Film Fest Society amended MOU 
Date: 2024-03-05 
Department: Planning & Economic Development  
 

 
Request for Decision, Page 2 of 6 

CAO COMMENTS 

Over the past few years, Council has made it a practice to execute MOU’s with organizations that     
receive significant grant contributions from the Town. In the case of the Slow Motion Food Film Fest 
Society grant, Council felt that public access to the space was a priority. Construction timelines have 
been challenging to meet for various reasons. 

1) LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 
Municipal Government Act  
Town Policy 710-003 Grants to Organizations 
  

2) STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff are recommending the approval of the amendment request – these projects provide value to 
our downtown core, are well underway, and only the timing component is being amended.  

3) REFERENCES AND ATTACHMENTS 
1. Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) AMENDMENT  
2. RFD 035-2021 and RFD 004-2021 (attached)  
 

4) DISCUSSION 

Note: See other reports (attached) on this topic for further background and information. 

Since the onset of this request, Council has made public access and the public benefit of this request 
a priority. There was a recognition by Council that this is a significant request of public funds. 

The deck is being located to accommodate future flood risk work and is being designed to be 
removed, if required, to accommodate sewer sewer line repairs. A separate agreement is being 
drafted to outline project scope details and risks regarding the sewer line.  

Staff are looking to support this work happening during the spring/summer of 2024 by removing 
most of the fence in Waterfront Park and doing other needed maintenance (signage, gardening, tide 
clock, seating) to enhance the experience there until larger investments are made as part of the 
Flood mitigation work. The WBDC will also be installing hammocks to further improve the space.  

An amendment to our Rail Line lease has also been agreed to – to ensure the paving of the trail from 
Harbourside to the Farmers’ Market, the devour deck and other improvements are included. The 
Rail Line will be a part of the planning document review undertaken as part of the Housing 
Accelerator Fund work – commencing in November 2024 with the new Council. There are 
Development rights along the line now – where it is at its widest – and a plan was prepared for the 



REQUEST FOR DECISION 016-2024 
Title: Slow Motion Food Film Fest Society amended MOU 
Date: 2024-03-05 
Department: Planning & Economic Development  
 

 
Request for Decision, Page 3 of 6 

owner in 2010-2011 by DenHartog Architects that informed the development rights currently in our 
Municipal Planning Strategy/Land Use By-law. A Secondary Plan will be the best tool to enable 
change along this corridor – so the area can be assessed comprehensively for housing and mixed use 
opportunities. 

Updated drawings of deck and floor plan for the washroom are included here.  
 
Devour! Deck – updated drawings and renderings:  
 
Regular operating and public use: 

 
 



REQUEST FOR DECISION 016-2024 
Title: Slow Motion Food Film Fest Society amended MOU 
Date: 2024-03-05 
Department: Planning & Economic Development  
 

 
Request for Decision, Page 4 of 6 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 



REQUEST FOR DECISION 016-2024 
Title: Slow Motion Food Film Fest Society amended MOU 
Date: 2024-03-05 
Department: Planning & Economic Development  
 

 
Request for Decision, Page 5 of 6 

Event Activation scenario:  

 
 
 
Universal Public Bathroom drawings:  

 
 
 
 
 



REQUEST FOR DECISION 016-2024 
Title: Slow Motion Food Film Fest Society amended MOU 
Date: 2024-03-05 
Department: Planning & Economic Development  
 

 
Request for Decision, Page 6 of 6 

5) FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
No change - $50,000 has been provided. The other $50,000 (for the deck) has not.  
 

6) REFERENCES TO COUNCIL STRATEGIC PLAN AND TOWN REPORTS  
 
Covered under previous reports.   

 
7) COMMUNICATION REQUIREMENTS 

Communication around improvements to Waterfront Park will be coordinated before they are 
undertaken.  

8) ALTERNATIVES 
• Council does not approve the motion.  
 
  



This MOU Amendment Agreement is dated the ___ day of _________________, 2024 
 
BETWEEN: 

Town of Wolfville (“Wolfville”) 
 

- and - 
 

Slow Motion Food Film Fest Society (“Devour!”) 
 
WHEREAS: 

 
A. The parties entered into a Memorandum of Understanding dated July 8, 2021 (the “MOU”) 

under which Wolfville agreed to provide $100,000 to Devour! towards the costs of 
renovations and constructing a large deck on the north side of the building at 360 Main 
Street, Wolfville, for the use of the patrons of Devour! and for use of the general public; 
 

B. The parties wish to amend the MOU as set out in this MOU Amendment Agreement, 
 
The parties agree as follows: 
 
1. Unless stated otherwise, capitalized terms in this MOU Amendment Agreement have the 

same meaning as in the MOU. 
 

2. Devour! shall complete the construction of the universal washroom on the main floor 
required by paragraph 2.1(h) of the MOU by no later than December 31, 2024. 

 
3. Devour! shall complete the construction of the Deck by no later than December 31, 2024. 
 
4. Except as amended by this MOU Amendment Agreement, the MOU remains in full force and 

effect. 
 

Signed this ___ day of _____________________, 2024. 
 
 
       Town of Wolfville 
 
__________________________   Per: ________________________ 
Witness 
 
 
       Slow Motion Food Film Fest Society 
 
__________________________   Per: ________________________ 
Witness 
 
 
P:\Town of Wolfville\Planning Issues (2024) - CAT- 1264\Devour - MOU Amendment - Jan 2024.docx 



REQUEST FOR DECISION 035-2021 
Title: Slow Motion Food Film Fest Society MOU 
Date: 2021-06-09 
Department: Parks and Recreation  
 

 
Request for Decision, Page 1 of 4 

SUMMARY 

Slow Motion Food Film Fest Society (Devour) - One Time Capital Request MOU 

 
Slow Motion Food Film Society (Devour! The Food Film Fest) is seeking financial support in the amount 
of $100,000 to renovate and operate a facility in Wolfville. Details of this facility and business plan were 
outlined in an earlier Request for Decision number 004-2021.   

Councial asked staff to work to develop a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with Devour to ensure 
public access and use of space was appropriate to the request.  

The motion listed below, if approved, would provide the Slow Motion Food Film Society with the 
request capital grant in the amount of $100,000.00.     

 
 
 
DRAFT MOTION: 

That Council approve the attached MOU and direct the CAO to sign and execute this agreement. 

  



REQUEST FOR DECISION 035-2021 
Title: Slow Motion Food Film Fest Society MOU 
Date: 2021-06-09 
Department: Parks and Recreation  
 

 
Request for Decision, Page 2 of 4 

1) CAO COMMENTS 

Over the past few years, Council has made it a practice to execute MOU’s with organizations that     
receive significant grant contributions from the Town. This practice ensures that it is clear from the 
beginning what the expectations for both the Town and the grant recipient are. In the case of the Slow 
Motion Food Film Fest Society grant, Council felt that public access to the space was a priority.  

With the inclusion of a large publicly accessible deck space as part of the development, it is felt that this 
goal of Council has been achieved.  

2) LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 
MGA 65 au (V) 
Town Policy 710-003 Grants to Organizations 
  

3) STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

      Staff do not provide recommendations related to one-time capital grants requests.  

4) REFERENCES AND ATTACHMENTS 
a. Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) – attachment A. 
b. Request for Decision 004-2021 – attachment B. 
 

5) DISCUSSION 

Since the onset of this request, Council has made public access and the public benefit of this request 
a priority and their guiding light to assist them in reaching a decision. There has been recognition by 
Council that this is a significant request of public funds. 

Although the discussion of directly linking a portion of the funding to a large publicly accessible deck 
on the North side of the building was not at the forefront of earlier discussions it seems to address 
an area of concern around public benefit and public access. It should also be recognized that the 
portion of funding reserved for the deck would not be the total cost and represent a share of the 
total cost, with the rest coming from Devour and or through additional grant funding. The Town of 
Wolfville is working with Devour to submit a grant application to assist in funding this space.  

In conversations with the Director of Planning and Development, in incorporating the deck into our 
forward-thinking risk management planning, a situation has emerged to create space for public use 
and start the process of flood risk mitigation.  



REQUEST FOR DECISION 035-2021 
Title: Slow Motion Food Film Fest Society MOU 
Date: 2021-06-09 
Department: Parks and Recreation  
 

 
Request for Decision, Page 3 of 4 

The original RFD 004-2021 speaks to the benefits that the new Devour! Studio will afford Wolfville 
and surrounding areas. The development of such a site speaks directly to the type of community 
Wolfville is working hard to develop:  
 
Devour! Studios is conceptualized as multi-tenant, multipurpose permanent home for Devour. A 
space to host, entertain, educate, and promote. Promotions which are not only limited to that of the 
Town, but of the surrounding agri-food sectors and tourism more broadly. (Taken from original RFD) 
 
And  
 
The Devour Studios will contribute directly to improving the quality of life for all citizens of Wolfville 
by creating a cultural, placemaking and economic hub in the center of Town. It will expand the 
capacity of the town to offer myriad new opportunities for leisure, culture and recreation and 
educational activities. (Taken from application for funding)  
 

6) FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
None provided here, covered under previous report. See attachment B. 
 

7) REFERENCES TO COUNCIL STRATEGIC PLAN AND TOWN REPORTS  
 
None provided here, covered under previous report. See attachment B.  

 
8) COMMUNICATION REQUIREMENTS 

Based on Council’s preference and working with the Office of the CAO, a communication plan will be 
developed.  

9) ALTERNATIVES 
• Council does not approve the motion.  
• Council can adjust the amount of funding they are willing to provide.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



REQUEST FOR DECISION 035-2021 
Title: Slow Motion Food Film Fest Society MOU 
Date: 2021-06-09 
Department: Parks and Recreation  
 

 
Request for Decision, Page 4 of 4 

10)  ATTACHMENTS 
 
See attachments A and B 































REQUEST FOR DECISION RFD 017-2024 
Title: Public Input Policy #110-010 Amendments 
Date: 2024-04-02 Amended for Council 2024-04-16 
Department: Council Policy Review Task Force  
 

 
Request for Decision, Page 1 of 3 

SUMMARY 

PUBLIC INPUT POLICY #110-010 AMENDMENTS 

The Council Policy Review Task Force reviewed the Public Participation Policy#110-010 as part of their 
workplan.   The first change discussed was the title to Public Input as it is more descriptive of what the 
process is.  

Members of the Task Force want to encourage public input at meetings and felt that the current time 
allowed at Council and Committee meetings may be restrictive.  To encourage public input, the 
recommendations in this RFD are the removal of the 30-minute restriction for public input and increase 
time per person from 3 minutes to 5 minutes and from 1 minute return (COW only) to 5 minutes. 

Further information has been included in the policy around how to request an accommodation.  

At COW, Council discussed the process of questions asked by members of the public at the input 
segments are referred to staff and how they are answered.  Some clarifying language has been added to 
section 4.5.    

Council requested clarity in Section 4.3 regarding the two segments of public input at COW meetings.  
On review it was felt revising the language in sections 4.1, 4.2 and 4.3 and condensing them into two 
sections 4.1 and 4.2 provides better understanding on the intent of the second public input segment at 
COW.  

 

 

DRAFT MOTION: 

That Council approve the amendments to Public Input Policy #110-010 as outlined in RFD 017-2024.  

That Council approve the amendments to Public Input Policy #110-010 as outlined in RFD 017-2024 with 
further clarification to Section 4.3 as discussed.  

  



REQUEST FOR DECISION RFD 017-2024 
Title: Public Input Policy #110-010 Amendments 
Date: 2024-04-02 Amended for Council 2024-04-16 
Department: Council Policy Review Task Force  
 

 
Request for Decision, Page 2 of 3 

1) CAO COMMENTS 
 
The CAO supports the recommendations of staff. 
 

2) LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 
• Municipal Government Act 1998 (Section 23) 

 

3) STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommend Council approve the amendments to the Public Input Policy #110-010 as 
described in this RFD.  

4) REFERENCES AND ATTACHMENTS 
1. Policy 110-010 Public Input Policy 

 
5) DISCUSSION 

The Council Policy Review Task Force reviewed the Public Participation Policy#110-010 as part of their 
workplan.  This policy describes the practice of members of the public addressing Council during 
Committee of the Whole, Town Council and Committee meetings.   

Members of the Task Force felt that the title of the policy was not a good indication of the process.  
While members of the public can provide feedback and submit questions, it is not a conversational 
dialogue session with Council.  This section of the agenda is for the public to provide Input.  

While understanding the importance of time keeping in an agenda, it was felt a 30-minute session may 
not be enough to allow everyone who wants to speak the time to do so without feeling rushed.  
Similarly, 3 minutes per person with a 1 minute return at COW could be insufficient time to allow a 
member of the public to provide their input without feeling pressured or rushed.    Public speaking can 
be a daunting task for many, removing the 30-minute time barrier and increasing 3 minutes to 5 minutes 
and 1 minute return to 5 minutes at COW may help alleviate some of that anxiety and encourage more 
people to offer their input at meetings.  Other ways discussed which may encourage members of the 
public to attend meetings whether to provide input or to observe in the public gallery, is to provide 
accommodations, including attending virtually.  Guidelines around how members of the public can 
attend virtually or to ask for other accommodations have been included in the policy.  

Direction is given within the policy around inappropriate behaviour at public input such as shouting out 
from the gallery, applause or jeers and inappropriate subject matter.  The Chair, in consultation with 
other members of Council, CAO and staff if required will decide on whether questions raised can be 
responded to sufficiently or whether further action is required after the meeting.    



REQUEST FOR DECISION RFD 017-2024 
Title: Public Input Policy #110-010 Amendments 
Date: 2024-04-02 Amended for Council 2024-04-16 
Department: Council Policy Review Task Force  
 

 
Request for Decision, Page 3 of 3 

It is recommended that Council approve the amendments made to this policy.  

6) FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

N/A 

7) REFERENCES TO COUNCIL STRATEGIC PLAN AND TOWN REPORTS  
• Social Equity 

 
8) COMMUNICATION REQUIREMENTS 

This policy will be posted to the website if approved.  

9) ALTERNATIVES 

Council do not approve any or all amendments and may offer additional recommendations.  

 

  



Policy No. 110-010 
Public Input at Council & Committee Meetings 
 

POLICY 

 
 

 
359 Main Street | Wolfville, NS B4P 1A1 | t 902.542.5767 | f 902.542.4789 

wolfville.ca 
Page 1 of 3 

Public Input at Council and Committee Meetings 

Policy Number: 
110-010 

Supersedes Policy Number: 
  

Effective Date 
 2019-07-16 

Approved By Council (Motion Number): 
2019-07-17 
  

1.0 Purpose  
 
The Town of Wolfville is committed to supporting its citizens to become more engaged and better 
informed on Town matters. This policy provides for the effective management of public input 
sessions during Council and Committee meetings. 
 
2.0 Scope  
 
This Policy is applicable to all Town Council and Committee of Council Meetings.  

 
3.0 Definitions 

  
3.1 Public Input Session a period of time during public meetings when members of the 

public can offer their comments and ask questions of Council.  
 

3.2 Chair Mayor or designated Chair of a Committee of Council. 
 

 
4.0 Policy  

4.1 At Committee of the Whole (COW) meetings, members of the public will have two 
opportunities to make comments and ask questions during public input sessions. 
These sessions are scheduled at the beginning of each meeting after the adoption 
of the minutes of previous meetings, and towards the end of the meeting after 
Council has received all the reports. Individual members of the public can speak 
for a maximum of five (5) minutes during these sessions.  The intent of the second 
opportunity is to provide Council with any new information members may have 
after hearing the reports, which may help in Council in their decision-making.  
 



Policy No. 110-010 
Public Input at Council & Committee Meetings 
 

POLICY 

 
 

 
359 Main Street | Wolfville, NS B4P 1A1 | t 902.542.5767 | f 902.542.4789 

wolfville.ca 
Page 2 of 3 

4.2 At regular Town Council and Advisory Committee of Council meetings, members of 
the public will have the opportunity to make comments and ask questions during 
one public input session at the beginning of each meeting after the adoption of 
the minutes of previous meetings. Individual members of the public can speak for 
a maximum of five (5) minutes during this session.  
 

4.3 Members of the public will address the Chair directly with questions and 
comments. 

 
4.4 Comments and questions that relate to personnel, current or potential litigation 

issues, or planning issues for which a public hearing has already occurred will not 
be answered. 

 
4.5 The Chair, in consultation with members of Council, the CAO and/or staff 

designate, will determine if a question posed can be immediately answered or if it 
needs to be referred to staff for further follow-up. Any questions not immediately 
answered will be directed to a staff member for follow-up, either in writing 
directly to the member of the public with a copy to Council, or in a subsequent 
CAO Report to Committee of the Whole. 

 
4.6 Members of the public participating in public input sessions will conduct 

themselves in a respectful manner. Should this not occur, the Chair will advise 
them to end their questions and/or comments immediately. 

 
4.7 In order to ensure that no member of the public feels discouraged, intimidated or    

otherwise prevented from delivering their comments or questions, no shouting 
from the public gallery, applause or other expressions of emotion will be 
permitted during public participation sessions.  

 
4.8 No audience participation is allowed.  

 
4.9 Any persons wishing to attend the meeting virtually must advise the Town Clerk 

with at least 24 hours’ notice to provide for technical set up as per Council & 
Committees of Council Virtual Meeting Policy 110-014 (section 5.2.3). 
 



Policy No. 110-010 
Public Input at Council & Committee Meetings 
 

POLICY 

 
 

 
359 Main Street | Wolfville, NS B4P 1A1 | t 902.542.5767 | f 902.542.4789 

wolfville.ca 
Page 3 of 3 

4.10 Any persons requiring accommodation are asked to contact staff at Town Hall. 
4.11 Members of the public are reminded that Policy Number 120-010 Routine Access 

Policy clarifies which Town records are available routinely upon request. 
 

 
5.0 Policy Review 

 
The Policy will be reviewed every four years from the effective/amended date. 

 

 

 

 
 
 

    

CAO   Date 
 



REQUEST FOR DECISION RFD 018-2024 
Title: Presentation to Council Policy #110-015 
Date: 2024-04-02 updated for Council 2024-04-16 
Department: Council Policy Review Task Force  
 

 
Request for Decision, Page 1 of 3 

SUMMARY 

PRESENTATION TO COUNCIL POLICY #110-015 

This policy provides guidelines to those wishing to present to Council and a process on how to manage 
those requests received.  

Currently, there is no formal procedure around how requests to present to Council are received and 
managed.  This lack of process has in the past resulted in inappropriate presentations making their way 
onto the COW agenda.  

This policy explains how these requests will be managed going forward, including what specific 
categories presentations should fall into to be considered, what information is required of the 
presenters before a decision is made to add them to an agenda and how that information is shared with 
the Mayor and Council.  

This policy is administrative in nature and provides clear guidelines on the process going forward.  

Amendments have been made to Section 5.2 to provide clarity on the process regarding all members of 
Council being made aware of requests to present and their involvement in deciding the appropriateness 
of the request as discussed at COW. 

 

DRAFT MOTION: 

That Council approve Policy #110-015, Presentations to Council Policy, as outlined in RFD 018-2024.  

That Council approve Policy #110-015, Presentations to Council Policy, as outlined in RFD 018-2024 with 
further clarification to Section 5.2 as discussed.  

 

  



REQUEST FOR DECISION RFD 018-2024 
Title: Presentation to Council Policy #110-015 
Date: 2024-04-02 updated for Council 2024-04-16 
Department: Council Policy Review Task Force  
 

 
Request for Decision, Page 2 of 3 

1) CAO COMMENTS 
 
The CAO supports the recommendations of staff. 
 

2) LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 
• Municipal Government Act 1998 (Section 23) 
 

3) STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommend Council approve the Presentation to Council Policy #110-015 as described in 
this RFD.  

4) REFERENCES AND ATTACHMENTS 
1. Draft Presentation to Council Policy #110-015 

 
5) DISCUSSION 

Requests to present to Council at Committee of the Whole meetings currently come through a variety of 
channels such as through the Office of the CAO, through various members of staff or Council members 
directly.  There are no guidelines currently to manage these requests.  

This policy has been created to provide a process for tracking the requests coming in, agenda 
management and information sharing with Council through the Mayor as well as provide guidelines for 
those wishing to present to Council.  

Every request to present to Council will be received by the Office of the CAO.  Staff or Council members 
receiving requests shall forward them to the Town Clerk in the first instance.  Information shall be 
requested of the person or group making the request regarding who they are, the purpose of the 
presentation and what, if any requests are being made of Council.  This information will be shared with 
the Mayor at the weekly Mayor/CAO/Town Clerk meetings.  A decision will be made on the 
appropriateness of a presentation to COW and timing of the presentation.   

One of the Mayor/CAO or Town Clerk shall advise Council of the request and provide background 
information as needed.  

The Town Clerk will communicate with the presenter including timelines, requirements and time slot.  

This policy will assist procedurally with the agenda management process as well as improve information 
sharing with Council.  It is therefore recommended that Council approve this policy.  

6) FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 



REQUEST FOR DECISION RFD 018-2024 
Title: Presentation to Council Policy #110-015 
Date: 2024-04-02 updated for Council 2024-04-16 
Department: Council Policy Review Task Force  
 

 
Request for Decision, Page 3 of 3 

N/A 

7) REFERENCES TO COUNCIL STRATEGIC PLAN AND TOWN REPORTS  

This policy is administrative in nature.  

8) COMMUNICATION REQUIREMENTS 

This policy will be posted to the website if approved.  

9) ALTERNATIVES 

Council do not approve this policy and continue as is.   

 

  



Policy No. 110-015 
Presentations to Council Policy 
 

POLICY 

 
 

 
359 Main Street | Wolfville, NS B4P 1A1 | t 902.542.5767 | f 902.542.4789 

wolfville.ca 
Page 1 of 3 

Presentations to Council 

Policy Number: 
110-015 

Supersedes Policy Number: 
N/A 
  

Effective Date 
 XXX 

Approved By Council (Motion Number): 
xxx 
  

1.0 Purpose  
 
To establish guidelines for the effective management of presentations at the Town’s Committee 
of the Whole meetings. 
 
2.0 Scope  
 
This Policy applies to all groups or organizations including all local community organizations, 
stakeholders, not-for-profit organizations, delegations, federal or provincial government 
agencies and partners and others which may arise at the discretion of Council who wish to 
publicly present to Council at a Committee of the Whole Meeting.   
 
For individual public input see policy #110-010 Public Input at Council Meetings Policy. 

 
3.0 Definitions 
 

3.1 Town is the Town of Wolfville 
  

4.0 Policy 
  
4.1 Presentations are made at Committee of the Whole meetings.  

 
4.2 For the purpose of this policy, presentations have been categorized into three 

groups: 
 

4.2.1 Presentations from the Community includes:  
i. updating Council on local community initiatives, projects, budgets 

or operations. 



Policy No. 110-015 
Presentations to Council Policy 
 

POLICY 

 
 

 
359 Main Street | Wolfville, NS B4P 1A1 | t 902.542.5767 | f 902.542.4789 

wolfville.ca 
Page 2 of 3 

ii. raising Council’s awareness of new community initiatives or 
projects. 

iii. Celebrating successes and achievements of volunteer based or not-
for-profit organizations which have a social, cultural, economic or 
environmental well-being in their mandate.  

These groups shall be allotted fifteen (15) minutes total (10 minutes for the 
presentation and 5 minutes for questions). 
 

4.2.2 Funding requests  
Requests for funding shall be allotted fifteen (15) minutes total (10 minutes for the 
presentation and 5 minutes for questions). 
 
4.2.3 Presentations made at the request of Council or Staff  
These requests may be allotted more time on a case-by-case basis. 
  

5 Committee of the Whole will refer presentations to staff for a report if they 
involve an expenditure of funds, grant applications, or other action on the part of 
the Town.  

 
6 Any persons wishing to present by virtual means must advise the Town Clerk with 

at least 24 hours’ notice to provide for technical set up as per Council & 
Committees of Council Virtual Meeting Policy 110-014. 
 

7 Any persons requiring accommodation are asked to contact staff at Town Hall. 
 

5.0 Responsibilities 
 

5.1 Council will:  
i. Identify and approve any changes to Presentations to Council Policy in 

collaboration with the CAO or designate. 
 

5.2 The CAO/Town Clerk will: 
i. Receive each presentation request.  

ii. Ensure all Council members are informed of the details of each request. 



Policy No. 110-015 
Presentations to Council Policy 
 

POLICY 

 
 

 
359 Main Street | Wolfville, NS B4P 1A1 | t 902.542.5767 | f 902.542.4789 

wolfville.ca 
Page 3 of 3 

iii. In collaboration with the mayor, and Council, decide on the 
appropriateness of the request and date of COW meeting to receive the 
presentation.  

iv. Update the agenda packages accordingly including any 
presentations/reports for pre-circulation.  

 
6.0 Presentation Requirements 
 

6.1 The request to present must include: 
i. a summary of the information of the organization being represented,  

ii. a summary of purpose of presentation, and  
iii. information on any requests being made of the Town.  

 
6.2 Requests to present must be received with at least 14 days’ notice of the 

Committee of the Whole meeting the request is for.  
 

6.3 Presentation slides or material to be handed out to Council must be provided to 
the Town Clerk at least 24 hours prior to the meeting.  

 
7.0 Policy Review 

 
The Policy will be reviewed every four years from the effective/amended date. 

 
 
 
 

    

CAO or Town Clerk  Date 
 



REQUEST FOR DECISION RFD 019-2024 
Title: Flag Flying Policy #120-006 Amendments 
Date: 2024-04-02 
Department: Council Policy Review Task Force  
 

 
Request for Decision, Page 1 of 3 

SUMMARY 

FLAG FLYING POLICY #120-006 AMENDMENTS  

This policy had not been reviewed since 2017 and was included in the Council Policy Review Task Force 
workplan.  

Procedural updates are recommended to improve understanding around the process when requests to 
fly a flag on the Town flag poles are received.  Council approve/deny all requests. Clarity has been 
provided on when a request may be denied, i.e. if the flag is associated with a contentious issue or 
organization.  

Communication improvements ensure Council are making those decisions and not staff.   

It is recommended that Council approve the amendments as described.  

  

DRAFT MOTION: 

That Council approve the amendments to Flag Flying Policy #120-006 as outlined in RFD 019-2024.  

  



REQUEST FOR DECISION RFD 019-2024 
Title: Flag Flying Policy #120-006 Amendments 
Date: 2024-04-02 
Department: Council Policy Review Task Force  
 

 
Request for Decision, Page 2 of 3 

1) CAO COMMENTS 
 
The CAO supports the recommendations of staff. 
 

2) LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 
• Municipal Government Act 1998 (Section 23) 

 

3) STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommend Council approve the amendments to the Flag Flying Policy #120-006 as 
described in this RFD.  

4) REFERENCES AND ATTACHMENTS 
1. Draft Flag Flying Policy #120-006 

 
5) DISCUSSION 

This policy had not been reviewed since 2017 and was added to the Council Policy Review Task Force 
workplan.   

Amendments made are: 

i. defining the flag poles that belong to the Town and their location.  
ii. defining language included around what could be classed as contentious with regard to 

organizations making requests.  
iii. clarity around approvals i.e. Council not staff make the decision.  
iv. improved communications to ensure Council members know when requests are received. 
v. Description of when flags will be half-masted.  

Amendments to this policy improve the understanding of the processes for members of the public, 
Council and staff around flag flying requests and it is recommended Council approve them as described.  

6) FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

N/A 

7) REFERENCES TO COUNCIL STRATEGIC PLAN AND TOWN REPORTS  

This policy is administrative in nature.  

8) COMMUNICATION REQUIREMENTS 



REQUEST FOR DECISION RFD 019-2024 
Title: Flag Flying Policy #120-006 Amendments 
Date: 2024-04-02 
Department: Council Policy Review Task Force  
 

 
Request for Decision, Page 3 of 3 

This policy will be posted to the website if approved.  

9) ALTERNATIVES 

Council do not approve the amendments to this policy and/or offer alternative amendments.    

 

  



Policy No. 120-006 
Flag Flying 

POLICY 

Page 1 of 4 

 

 

 

FLAG FLYING 

Policy Number: 
120-006 

Supersedes Policy Number: 
Not Applicable 

Effective Date: 
2009-02-16 
Amended 2012-11-19 
Amended 2017-06-20 

Approval By Council Motion Number: 
08-02-09 
04-11-12 
28-06-17 

 
1.0 Purpose 
 
The purpose of this policy is to outline the occasions for flying flags in the Town of Wolfville. 
 
2.0 Scope 
 
This Policy is applicable to Town staff responsible for flying Flags on the Town’s flagpoles located 
at Willow Ave, Waterfront Park, and the Town Hall.  The flagpole located at the Fire Hall is for 
service personnel.  
 
3.0 References 

 
 None 
  
4.0 Definitions 

4.1 CAO means the Chief Administrative Officer for the Town. 
 

4.2 Town means the Town of Wolfville. 
 
5.0 Policy 

 
5.1 It is the policy of the Town that no flag, other than a Federal Flag, a Provincial Flag, 

a Municipal Flag, and/or a First Nations Flag be flown from a municipal-owned 
flagpole with the exception of the fourth flagpole located at the Town’s waterfront 
property. This flagpole will be designated for groups and organizations who 
request that their event flag be flown from a Town flagpole. 
 

5.2 Notwithstanding the above policy, the Town will fly the appropriate flag on the 
occasion of a visiting dignitary for the duration of their visit to the Town. 



Policy No. 120-006 
Flag Flying 

POLICY 

Page 2 of 4 

 

 

 
 

5.3 Additionally, the Town undertakes to provide consistent circumstances when flags 
on Town property will be flown at half-mast. 
 

5.4 Specific Objectives 
 

Through the Flag Flying Policy, the Town undertakes to: 
i. Provide a consistent response. 
ii. Provide fair and equitable opportunities; and 
iii. Provide a designated area for groups or organizations to fly their event 

flag from a Town flagpole. 
 

5.5 Requests for Flag Flying 

5.5.1 Flag flying requests will be in writing and directed to the office of the CAO 
and should include the start and end date of the request. 

5.5.2 Flag flying requests are approved on a first come, first served basis. 

5.5.3 Flags will only be placed on Town property in support of specific community 
events or activities in or around the Town at the request of the organizing 
group. 

5.5.4 Council approval is required. 

5.5.5 No requests perceived as contentious, i.e. political, religious or for any group 
or organization that supports social or racial intolerance, violence or hatred, 
shall be approved. 

 
5.6 Responsibilities 

 
5.6.1 The CAO will: 

i. determine if the request for half-masting conforms to the criteria of the 
policy. 

ii. arrange for the half-masting of the flag. 
iii. advise the Mayor, Council, Manager of Communications and staff of the 

Town’s Administrative offices, of the date the flags will be at half mast, 
name of the individual, the individual’s qualification for recognition under 
this policy and the date of the funeral or memorial service for the 
individual. 

iv. ensure through the Manager of Communications that all events 
concerning changes made to the flags are shared with all Members of 
Council.  
 



Policy No. 120-006 
Flag Flying 

POLICY 

Page 3 of 4 

 

 

5.6.2 The Town Council may: 
i. at the request of the CAO, consider for approval the request submitted to 

Council. 
ii. at the request of the group or organization, attend the flag raising 

ceremony. 
 

5.6.3 The Fire Department Operator/Mechanic shall: 
i. be responsible for changing the event flag at the request of the CAO. 

ii. be responsible for lowering the flag or flags to half-mast at the request of 
the CAO. 
 

5.7 Half-Masting the Canadian Flag 
 
5.7.1 The flag will be flown at half-mast to mark the passing of any of the 

prominent public figures listed below, for a period beginning when the Town 
is notified of the individual’s death until and including the date of the funeral 
or memorial service, or at the discretion of the CAO: 
i. Across Canada and abroad on the death of: 

• The Sovereign, or a member of the Royal Family related in the first 
degree to the Sovereign (spouse, son or daughter, father, mother, 
brother or sister). 

• The Governor General or a former Governor General of Canada. 
• The Prime Minister or former Prime Minister of Canada 

ii. Within the Province on the death of: 
• The Lieutenant Governor or former Lieutenant Governor of Nova Scotia. 
• The Premier or former Premier of Nova Scotia. 

iii. Within the Town of Wolfville on the death of: 
• The Mayor or former Mayor of the Town of Wolfville. 
• A Councillor or former Councillor of the Town of Wolfville. 
• A Federal Cabinet Member or former Cabinet Member who represented 

a constituency that included the Town of Wolfville. 
• A current or former employee of the Town of Wolfville. 
• A Member of the Legislative Assembly (MLA) or a former MLA who 

represented a constituency that included the Town of Wolfville. 
• A Member of the Canadian Military whose life was lost while on active 

duty. 
iv. In recognition of individuals from the Town, whose duties can be described 

as “Protective Services”, including but not limited to police, fire, emergency 
health services, Department of Natural Resources Conservation Officer and 
Fisheries Officers. 
 

5.7.1 All flags will be lowered to half-mast during the Remembrance Day Ceremony 



Policy No. 120-006 
Flag Flying 

POLICY 

Page 4 of 4 

 

 

on November 11. 
 

5.7.2 The flag will be flown at half-mast to mourn lives lost in traffic, in significant 
local, regional, national and international events. In such cases the decision 
to lower the flag and the period during which it remains at half-mast will 
generally mirror the practice of the Province of Nova Scotia but will be at the 
discretion of the CAO. 

 
5.8 Other individuals and events may be recognized by lowering the flag at the 

discretion of members of Council. 
 

6.0 Policy Review 
 
The Policy will be reviewed every four years from the effective/amended date. 

 
 
 
 

 
________________________________________ ___________________ 

CAO/Town Clerk Date 



REQUEST FOR DECISION 020-2024 
Title: Repeal of Wolfville_Acadia Town & Gown Policy #120-012 
Date:        2024-02-04 
Department: Office of the CAO  
 

 
Request for Decision, Page 1 of 3 

SUMMARY 

REPEAL OF WOLFVILLE_ACADIA TOWN & GOWN POLICY #120-012 

In June 2023 the Memorandum of Understanding between the Town and Acadia was reviewed 
and revised in collaboration with all partners; the Town, Acadia and the ASU (Acadia Students 
Union).  This MOU includes the contents and more of the policy that was in place.  The MOU 
will be reviewed every four years to ensure the shared goals and key principles are still relevant.   
 
The policy is therefore outdated, obsolete and a regurgitation of old information that was 
contained in a previous MOU.  It is therefore recommended that the Wolfville_Acadia Town & 
Gown Policy#120-012 be repealed.  
 

 

DRAFT MOTION: 

That Council approve the repeal of Policy #120-012, Wolfville_Acadia Town & Gown Policy. 

  



REQUEST FOR DECISION 020-2024 
Title: Repeal of Wolfville_Acadia Town & Gown Policy #120-012 
Date:        2024-02-04 
Department: Office of the CAO  
 

 
Request for Decision, Page 2 of 3 

1) CAO COMMENTS 
 
The CAO supports the recommendations of staff. 
 

2) LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 

• Municipal Government Act 1998 
 

3) STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff recommend that Council approve the repeal of Policy #120-012, Wolfville_Acadia Town & Gown 
Policy. 
 

4) REFERENCES AND ATTACHMENTS 
1. Policy #120-012, Wolfville_Acadia Town & Gown Policy.  
2. Memorandum of Understanding between Town of Wolfville_Acadia_ASU 2023 
 

5) DISCUSSION 
 
A formal review of the MOU was undertaken in 2022-23. Feedback was sought from all three parties 
on what has worked well and what improvements were needed to ensure the MOU is effective.  
 
Taking the feedback from all three Parties, a revised MOU was drafted and presented to the Town 
and Gown Committee. On March 29, 2023 the Town and Gown met to approve the final version and 
recommended forwarding it to all three Parties for approval.  The subsequent version has been 
signed and approved by all three parties and is in effect. 
 
This MOU addresses and expands on the content of the Wolfville_Acadia Town & Gown Policy #120-
012 including composition, administration, key principles, shared goals and clarification the 
meetings are open to the public.  
 
It is therefore recommended that the Wolfville_Acadia Town & Gown Policy #120-012 be repealed.  
 

6) FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

N/A 

7) REFERENCES TO COUNCIL STRATEGIC PLAN AND TOWN REPORTS  

N/A 

 



REQUEST FOR DECISION 020-2024 
Title: Repeal of Wolfville_Acadia Town & Gown Policy #120-012 
Date:        2024-02-04 
Department: Office of the CAO  
 

 
Request for Decision, Page 3 of 3 

8) COMMUNICATION REQUIREMENTS 

The Town’s records will be updated to reflect the repealed policy. 

9) ALTERNATIVES 

Council could choose not to approve the repeal of this policy and/or offer amendments.  

 

  



Policy No. 120-012 
Wolfville-Acadia Town & Gown Committee 
 

POLICY 

 

 
359 Main Street | Wolfville, NS B4P 1A1 | t 902.542.5767 | f 902.542.4789 

wolfville.ca 
Page 1 of 3 

 

Wolfville-Acadia Town & Gown Committee 

Policy No. 120-012 Supersedes Policy No. (Not Applicable) 

Effective Date Approved By Council  Resolution No. 
2013-04-02 
2013-05-21 amended 
2014-12-16 
2017-02-20 

08-04-13 
Amending No. 08-05b-13 
03-12b-14 
27-02-18 

1.0 Purpose 
The primary purpose of the Wolfville & Acadia Town and Gown Committee is to develop and enhance 
relationships, communications and policies among Acadia students, community, residents, police and 
Town. This objective would be achieved by addressing issues of common concern and may include 
neighbourhood relations, housing, the environment, economic activities, recreational and cultural 
events, health and safety issues and academic outreach. 

2.0 Scope 
This Policy covers activities of the Town of Wolfville’s Town & Gown Committee and those individuals 
appointed as members of the Committee. 

3.0 References 
3.1 Nova Scotia Municipal Government Act 

 
3.2 Policy 110-001, Committees Policy 

 

4.0 Definitions 
4.1 Committee.  A group of people appointed for a specific function, typically consisting of 

members of a larger group. 

5.0 Policy 
5.1 Composition: 

5.1.1 The Town & Gown Committee will consist of 8 members: 
• The Mayor 
• CAO 
• 1 Councillor - Chair 
• Acadia Director Safety and Security 
• Acadia Student Union President 

http://nslegislature.ca/legc/statutes/municipal%20government.pdf
https://www.wolfville.ca/component/com_docman/Itemid,301/alias,1962-110-001-committees-of-council-2018-02-20/category_slug,110-council/view,download/
https://www.wolfville.ca/component/com_docman/Itemid,301/alias,1962-110-001-committees-of-council-2018-02-20/category_slug,110-council/view,download/


Policy No. 120-012 
Wolfville-Acadia Town & Gown Committee 
 

POLICY 

 

 
359 Main Street | Wolfville, NS B4P 1A1 | t 902.542.5767 | f 902.542.4789 

wolfville.ca 
Page 2 of 3 

• Acadia Senior Director of Student Affairs 
• RCMP Sergeant 
• ASU Community Relations 

 
5.2 Appointments 

5.2.1 Council will select a Chair at the December meeting for the next year and the 
Council member will serve as Chair 

 
5.2.2 All Committee members serve without pay.  Council member will serve 2 year 

terms.  All other representatives are connected to a position. 
 
5.2.3 The CAO will serve as a member to the Committee. 

 
5.3 Duties and Responsibilities 

5.2.1 Generate ideas to continue to improve the relationship between the university, 
the community, the Town and the police; 
 

5.2.2 Specifically make recommendations to Council on strategies to lessen the 
negative impact on neighbourhoods resulting from the large percentage of 
university students living in town; 

 
5.2.3 Develop communication strategies to celebrate the successes and work of the 

students and other citizens to enhance community relations; 
 

5.2.4 Promote the positive attributes of living in a campus community and support 
activities to ensure a safe and healthy community; and 

 
5.2.5 Provide an open forum for discussion of issues and concerns among the 

partners in the community. 
 

5.4 Administration 
5.3.1 The meeting of the Committee will be held bi-monthly and the Chair will 

communicate the meeting schedule annually; and 
 

5.3.2 Meetings will be held in the Council Chambers of Town Hall or at an alternate 
location with agreement of the Committee. 

 
  



Policy No. 120-012 
Wolfville-Acadia Town & Gown Committee 
 

POLICY 

 

 
359 Main Street | Wolfville, NS B4P 1A1 | t 902.542.5767 | f 902.542.4789 

wolfville.ca 
Page 3 of 3 

5.5 Policy Review 
This policy will be reviewed every year from effective/amended date. 

 
 

 
 
  2018-02-20 

CAO or Town Clerk  Date 
 















REQUEST FOR DECISION 009-2023 
Title: 2024 Spring Debenture Pre-Approval 
Date: 2024-03-26 
Department: Finance 
 

 
Request for Decision, Page 1 of 4 

SUMMARY 

2024 Spring Debenture Issue Pre-Approval 

Each fiscal period, municipalities are provided two opportunities to participate in debenture issues to 
meet long-term debt funding requirements.  In past years this process was carried out by the NS 
Municipal Finance Corporation, which has since been amalgamated with the provincial Department of 
Finance who now manages the annual debenture process.   

The two debenture opportunities are in the spring and fall debenture.  The dollar amounts leveraged 
through the combined debt requirements of Provincial municipalities allow individual municipal 
participants to obtain borrowing rates that may otherwise not be available to a municipality if engaging 
in a similar debenture issue on its own. 

The Town of Wolfville typically participates in the spring debenture issue to obtain long-term debt 
funding for capital projects completed in the previous fiscal year or completed in the current fiscal year 
if completed prior to a debenture offer deadline.  The 2024 spring debenture can be applied for by 
structuring the spring debenture application with completed 2023/24 capital projects. 

The purpose of this report is to complete the process for long-term borrowing approved by Council in 
the 2023/24 Capital Budget.  This is the last formal step required to participate in the 2024 Spring 
Debenture Issue.  

The pre-approval process sets the maximum that can be borrowed for the upcoming debenture issue.  
Any incomplete projects do not meet the eligibility requirement for maximum project borrowing and 
will not be incurred in the RFD.     

DRAFT MOTION: 

THAT COUNCIL APPROVE THE ATTACHED RESOLUTION FOR PRE-APPROVAL TO PARTICIPATE IN THE 
SPRING DEBENTURE ISSUE WITH THE FOLLOWING MAXIMUM FINANCIAL PARAMETERS: 

 
FAIRFIELD STREET REBUILD AND EAST END MAIN CULVERT $735,000 30-year amortization * 
WATER UTILITY       $  39,900 30-year amortization * 
 
TOTAL BORROWING AMOUNT     $774,900 
 
 * MAXIMUM AVERAGE INTEREST RATE IS TO BE SET AT 6.5%. 
  



REQUEST FOR DECISION 009-2023 
Title: 2024 Spring Debenture Pre-Approval 
Date: 2024-03-26 
Department: Finance 
 

 
Request for Decision, Page 2 of 4 

1) CAO COMMENTS 

The CAO supports the recommendations of staff. 

2) LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 
• Municipal Government Act Section 66 - Power to Borrow Money 
• Municipal Government Act Section 88 (1), (2), and (3) - Ministerial Approval 

 
3) STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommend that Council approve the amounts for the 2024 Spring Debenture Issue relating to 
projects and funding already approved by Council in the 2023/24 Budget Document in the amount of 
$774.900. 

REFERENCES AND ATTACHMENTS 

• Provincial Pre-Approval Resolution Wording (attached) 
• Borrowing Certificate CR 08-2023-0029 (Town TBR #23/24-01) in amount of $2,552,900 (attached) 
• Borrowing Certificate CR 08-2023-0030 (Town TBR #23/24-02) in amount of $399,900 (attached) 
• Town Capital Asset Funding Policy 
• RFD 032-2023, Temporary Borrowings – 2023/24 Capital Projects 
• 2023/24 Capital Budget and related funding requirements 

 
4) DISCUSSION 

This is one of the steps required in order to participate in the debenture issues processed by the 
province. This is a housekeeping matter at this stage as it relates to the 2023/24 capital projects 
previously approved by Council.  
 
As in past years, this matter is time sensitive. The MFC has set a deadline of April 25th to submit 
commitment letters for the spring debenture issue. 
 
Last year Council approved Temporary Borrowing Resolutions (TBR) #23/24-01 and TBR #23/24-02.   This 
covered the capital projects included in the 2023/24 Capital Budget for the Town and the Water Utility.   
 
TBR #23/24-01 (CR 08-2023-0029) 
Visitor Information Centre       $   600,000 
Fairfield Street, complete rebuild, and East End culvert   $1,250,000 
Waste Water Treatment Plant Phase II -design and document process $   167,900 
Parking Lots (East End Gateway and Rotary Park)   $   535,000 

Total TBR       $2,552,900 



REQUEST FOR DECISION 009-2023 
Title: 2024 Spring Debenture Pre-Approval 
Date: 2024-03-26 
Department: Finance 
 

 
Request for Decision, Page 3 of 4 

 
TBR #23/24-02 (CR 08-2023-0030) 
Water Utility  

Water Transmission Lines University Ave. to Skyway Ave. $360,000 
Water Distribution System – Fairfield Ave.    $  39,900 
 Total TBR      $399,900 

 
 
Normally, previous year capital projects requiring debt financing are completed in the planned fiscal 
period, and subsequently, included in the spring debenture pre-approval RFD. For 2023/24 not all capital 
projects included in the 2023 Temporary Borrowing Resolutions (“TBR”) were completed. The projects 
not meeting completion criterium include the visitor information centre, wastewater treatment plant 
design and document process, East End Gateway and Rotary Park parking lots, and water transmission 
lines for University Ave. and Skyway Ave.  Those respective projects are not part of the RFD.  
 
As expected, based on funding projections using the Towns Ten Year Capital Investment Plan (CIP), the 
above noted borrowings can occur without negatively impacting the Town’s Debt Service Ratio, which has 
been in the 7.5% range according to Provincial Financial Condition Indicators (“FCI’) reported for the most 
recent reporting years.  The Province of Nova Scotia’s Finance Department imposes a maximum debt-
service ratio covenant of 15% and identifies when a municipality’s debt-service ratio exceeds the allowed 
maximum and will deny future borrowing until an acceptable debt-service ratio can be achieved. 

As noted during annual capital budget discussions, the Town’s Debt Ratio will continue to increase over 
the proceeding ten years should borrowing for additional capital projects be required.  This relates to 
Council’s focus to address the existing infrastructure and long-term planning needed to fund major 
infrastructure projects.  Based on the draft 2024/25 capital funding model, the Town will not reach a debt-
service ratio greater than 15%. 

The noted maximum interest rate in the draft motion is the figure suggested by the province given current 
market conditions.  The “maximum” is simply set to ensure the Town’s ability to participate in the spring 
debenture issue without having to revise borrowing documentation.   

5) FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

The financial impact of this year’s debt requirement was considered as part of the 2023/24 budget 
approval process.  No further analysis is provided here. 
 
6) REFERENCES TO COUNCIL STRATEGIC PLAN AND TOWN REPORTS  

Not applicable at this stage.  Refer to Council approved Annual Operations Plan 2022-26 and related 
budget documentation.  

 



REQUEST FOR DECISION 009-2023 
Title: 2024 Spring Debenture Pre-Approval 
Date: 2024-03-26 
Department: Finance 
 

 
Request for Decision, Page 4 of 4 

7) COMMUNICATION REQUIREMENTS 

Staff will communicate, in required format, all information to the Department of Finance, Province of 
Nova Scotia. 

8) ALTERNATIVES 

There are no alternatives at this stage in long-term debt borrowing given that the 2023/24 budget plan 
included debt financing for the items identified above in the RFD. 



REQUEST FOR DECISION 024-2024 
Title: Welcome Centre Extra Costs for Unsuitable Soils 
Date: April 2, 2024 
Department: Engineering & Public Works 
 

 

 

RFD 024-2024 Welcome Centre Extra Costs for Unsuitable Soils 
Page 1 of 3 

SUMMARY 
Welcome Centre Extra Costs for Unsuitable Soils 

 
The mass excavation of 237 m³ of unsuitable soil from beneath the former Visitor Information 
Centre building was required to allow for the construction of a stable base for the new building's 
footings. Due to prior knowledge of potential soil issues in Willow Park, and the findings of the 
geotechnical investigation carried out by Hatch last year, a contract rate of $100 per cubic meter 
was established for excavation, hauling, and replacement with engineered rock fill material. 
Additionally, following the geotechnical engineer's recommendation, an extra roll of soil 
reinforcement grid was applied, resulting in a total change order value of $27,722.45, inclusive of 
net HST. 
 
 
DRAFT MOTION (1): 

THAT COUNCIL APPROVE AN INCREASE TO THE WELCOME CENTRE PROJECT BUDGET 
OF $27,800 TO COVER THE ADDITIONAL COSTS OF REPLACING UNSUITABLE SOILS 
DURING RECENT FOUNDATION PREPARATION WORK. 
 
 
  



REQUEST FOR DECISION 024-2024 
Title: Welcome Centre Extra Costs for Unsuitable Soils 
Date: April 2, 2024 
Department: Engineering & Public Works 
 

 

 

RFD 024-2024 Welcome Centre Extra Costs for Unsuitable Soils 
Page 2 of 3 

1) CAO COMMENTS 
The CAO supports the recommendations of staff.  

2) LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 
• Municipal Government Act (MGA) Section 65 and 65A. 

 

3) STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS 
• Proceed with approving the increase to the project budget for extra costs related to 

replacement of unsuitable soils. 

 

4) REFERENCES AND ATTACHMENTS 
1. RFD 015-2024 Welcome Centre Optional Upgrades - Shower and Metal Roof 
2. IR 025-2023 Welcome Centre Funding Breakdown and Project Scope 
3. RFD 002-2024 Welcome Centre Design-Build Contract Award 
4. Council Minutes, January 23, 2024 
5. Others in the above referenced documents. 

 

5) DISCUSSION 
Poor site soil conditions necessitated the mass excavation of 237 m³ of unsuitable soil from 
underneath the former Visitor Information Centre building to allow for the construction of a sound 
base under the new building’s footings.  The contract and design for the new structure relied on the 
geotechnical investigation carried out by Hatch, in which the possibility of encountering these 
conditions was identified.  Given prior experience with construction in this area, and since 
unsuitable soils were identified as a possibility during the geotechnical investigation, a “per cubic 
meter” unit rate for mass excavation and replacement of unsuitable soils was requested in the RFP 
for design/construction, and a rate of $100 per cubic meter (inclusive of excavation, hauling, and 
delivery/placement of replacement engineered rock fill material) was included in the contract. 
 
In addition to the fill material, an extra roll of soil reinforcement grid was applied based on the 
recommendation from the project’s geotechnical engineer during preparation. 
 

6) FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
A total of 237 m³ of unsuitable soil was removed and replaced, at a rate of $100/m³, plus an 
additional roll of soil reinforcing geogrid at approximately $2,900.  The total change order value is 
$27,722.45 (including net HST). 
 
 



REQUEST FOR DECISION 024-2024 
Title: Welcome Centre Extra Costs for Unsuitable Soils 
Date: April 2, 2024 
Department: Engineering & Public Works 
 

 

 

RFD 024-2024 Welcome Centre Extra Costs for Unsuitable Soils 
Page 3 of 3 

7) REFERENCES TO COUNCIL STRATEGIC PLAN AND TOWN REPORTS  
N/A 
 

8) COMMUNICATION REQUIREMENTS 
N/A 
 

9) ALTERNATIVES 
N/A 
 
 
 

Prepared by:  Alexander J. de Sousa, P.Eng., Director of Engineering & Public Works 
Date Revised:  April 9, 2024 



REQUEST FOR DECISION 025-2024 
Title: East End Gateway Parking Lot Budget Amendment 
Date: April 16, 2024 
Department: Engineering & Public Works 
 

 

 

RFD 025-2024 East End Gateway Parking Lot Budget Amendment 
Page 1 of 5 

SUMMARY 
East End Gateway Parking Lot Budget Amendment 

 
The East End Gateway Parking Lot project aims to create a high-quality parking area that 
accommodates work, shopping, and visiting needs while enhancing user and pedestrian safety, 
maximizing space utilization, managing stormwater runoff, and establishing a pedestrian pathway 
connecting Willow Ave and Main Street to the Harvest Moon Trail. This involves expanding the 
parking lot to double its capacity to 100 spaces, installing lighting for pedestrians and vehicles, 
improving drainage, and constructing a 3.2m wide concrete sidewalk. Minor adjustments were 
made to the scope and design to accommodate development at 292 Main Street. The project, 
approved in the 2023-24 CIP with a budget of $530,000, was initially tendered in late 2023 but re-
tendered in spring 2024, receiving two bids with the lowest at $572,083.90. The bid includes a 
contingency, provisional paving at the Legion, and provisional decorative lighting posts for the 
pedestrian path.  
 
An adjustment to the budget for the upcoming fiscal year to a total value of $610,000 is required to 
carry out the complete scope. 
 
 

DRAFT MOTION: 

THAT COUNCIL APPROVE A PROJECT-SPECIFIC INCREASE TO THE CAPITAL BUDGET IN 
THE 2024-25 FISCAL YEAR TO $610,000 TO CARRY OUT THE FULL SCOPE OF WORK IN 
THE EAST END PARKING LOT 
 
 
  



REQUEST FOR DECISION 025-2024 
Title: East End Gateway Parking Lot Budget Amendment 
Date: April 16, 2024 
Department: Engineering & Public Works 
 

 

 

RFD 025-2024 East End Gateway Parking Lot Budget Amendment 
Page 2 of 5 

1) CAO COMMENTS 
To be delivered during presentation, if any. 

2) LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 
• Municipal Government Act (MGA) Section 65 and 65A 

 

3) STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommend increasing the capital budget to allow for the implementation of the complete 
scope of work as tendered for the East End Parking Lot. 
 

4) REFERENCES AND ATTACHMENTS 
1. East End Gateway Capital Project Charter (2020-21, 2021-22) 

2. East End Parking Lot and Events Lawn (2023-24) 

3. RFD 005-2023 Operations Plan & Budget 2023/24 

4. IR 011-2024: V4 Budget 2024/25 

 

5) DISCUSSION 
The original scope for the East End Gateway Parking Lot project includes the following objectives: 

• Creating a “first-class” parking area where users can park for work, shopping, and/or 
visiting; 

• Maximize user and pedestrian safety; 

• Maximize utilization of the space; 

• Manage stormwater runoff; 

• Create a pedestrian pathway connecting Willow Ave and Main Street through to the Harvest 
Moon Trail; and 

• Create an inviting greenspace to help showcase the area. 

 
These objectives are going to be achieved by utilizing an efficient engineering design that will see 
the expansion of the parking lot (doubling the number of available parking spaces to 100), providing 
lighting for pedestrians and vehicles, improving drainage, and creating a winding 3.2m wide 
concrete sidewalk that will leave space for town-installed landscaping elements.  Minor scope 
adjustments and design revisions occurred throughout 2023 to accommodate development at 292 
Main Street.  The implementation schedule was also impacted by design changes and discussions 
with the developer at 292 Main Street to ensure the Town’s new work would not be impacted. 



REQUEST FOR DECISION 025-2024 
Title: East End Gateway Parking Lot Budget Amendment 
Date: April 16, 2024 
Department: Engineering & Public Works 
 

 

 

RFD 025-2024 East End Gateway Parking Lot Budget Amendment 
Page 3 of 5 

 
The project was approved on the 2023-24 CIP with a total value of $530,000 with funding support 
from ACOA.  Engineering & Public Works tendered the project initially in late 2023, closing on 
November 3, 2023, and receiving only one bid for $586,196 plus HST.  At that time, our decision 
was to re-tender the project in the spring of 2024 to try and get more than one bid. 
 
Upon re-tendering with a closing date of March 28, 2024, the Town received two compliant bids, 
with the low bid being $572,083.90.  The bid includes a $10,000 contingency, and $13,457.50 to 
pave the lot behind the legion (an additional $5,900.15 allowance will be required to complete a 
paved walkway as well).  See Figure 1 - Legion Paving below. 
 
Decorative lighting for the pedestrian path have also been included in the bid price as a provisional 
item with a value of ± $39,500.  Choosing to proceed without the decorative lighting at this time 
would still result in the bases and underground wiring being completed with this work scope so the 
posts could be added at a later date without disruption. 
 
A summary of costs incurred to date, plus the anticipated award costs are presented in the next 
section for Council consideration.  Net HST has been added to each for clarity and consistency. 
 

6) FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

Cost Description 

$17,757.77 Engineering design and tender package prep (2023/24 FY) 

$7,673.78 
Engineering design revisions and tender package revisions to account 
for future pedestrian plaza and other changes related to 292 Main St. 
(Incl. allowance for QC.) 

$20,187.26 Legion parking lot and walkway paving (Optional/provisional) 

$41,180.76 Decorative light posts only – three total (Optional/provisional) 

$530,958.20 Base contract – Grading and paving work, curbs, sidewalk, etc., 
without above provisional items. 

$10,000.00 Construction contract contingency 

$627,757.77 Estimated Total ($97,757.77 over original approved budget) 

 
The $17,757.77 was utilized during the 2023-24 fiscal year, so for the 2024-25 fiscal year, the 
budget allowance will be required to be increased to $610,000, which has been allowed for in 
today’s V4 budget presentation to Council.  Total project cost will be $627,800 ($97,800 over 
$530,000 original estimate). 
 



REQUEST FOR DECISION 025-2024 
Title: East End Gateway Parking Lot Budget Amendment 
Date: April 16, 2024 
Department: Engineering & Public Works 
 

 

 

RFD 025-2024 East End Gateway Parking Lot Budget Amendment 
Page 4 of 5 

 

 
Figure 1 - Legion Paving (walkway not shown) 

 

7) REFERENCES TO COUNCIL STRATEGIC PLAN AND TOWN REPORTS  
See referenced documents. 

 

8) COMMUNICATION REQUIREMENTS 
N/A 
 



REQUEST FOR DECISION 025-2024 
Title: East End Gateway Parking Lot Budget Amendment 
Date: April 16, 2024 
Department: Engineering & Public Works 
 

 

 

RFD 025-2024 East End Gateway Parking Lot Budget Amendment 
Page 5 of 5 

9) ALTERNATIVES 
• Remove the Legion paving portion of the project, resulting in an increase in this year’s 

budget to $589,900 for this project.  This would result in a total estimated project cost of 
$607,700 ($77,700 over original $530,000 budget). 

• Remove the decorative lights (deferring to a future year) from the scope of the project, 
resulting in an increase in this year’s budget to $568,900 for this project.  This would result 
in a total estimated project cost of $586,700 ($56,700 over original $530,000 budget). 

• Remove both the Legion paving portion of the project, and the decorative lights (deferring to 
a future year) from the scope of the project, resulting in an increase in this year’s budget to 
$548,700 for this project.  This would result in a total estimated project cost of $566,500 
($36,500 over original $530,000 budget). 

 
 
 
 

Prepared by:  Alexander J. de Sousa, P.Eng., Director of Engineering & Public Works 
Date Revised:  April 9, 2024 


	1. 2024-04-16_Town Council_Agenda
	1a. 2024-04-16_Town Council_ Motions List
	2a. 2024-03-19 Town Council Meeting_Minutes (Draft)
	2b. 2024-03-27 Special Town Council Meeting_Minutes (Draft)
	5b. RFD 016-2024 Devour amended MOU Capital Grant
	5b.i RFD 016-2024 Attachment 1 Devour - MOU Amendment - Jan 2024 - DL edits
	5b.ii RFD 016-2024 Attachment 2 2021-06-15_Town Council Agenda Package_Public
	6b. RFD 035-2021 Devour MOU Capital Grant
	6bi Attachment A_Memorandum of Understanding_Devour!
	6bii Attachment B_Request for Decision 004-2021

	6a. RFD 017-2024 Public Input Policy #110-010 Amendments
	6a.i RFD017-2024 ATTACHMENT 110-010_Public Input at Meetings_2024 DRAFT
	1.0 Purpose
	2.0 Scope
	3.0 Definitions
	4.0 Policy
	5.0 Policy Review

	6b. RFD 018-2024 Presentations to Council Policy #110-015 (2)
	6b.i RFD 018-2024 ATTACH 110-015 Presentations to Council Policy DRAFT 2024 (2)
	1.0 Purpose
	2.0 Scope
	3.0 Definitions
	3.1 Town is the Town of Wolfville
	4.0 Policy
	5.0 Responsibilities
	6.0 Presentation Requirements
	7.0 Policy Review

	6c. RFD 019-2024 Flag Flying Policy #120-006 Amendments
	6c.i RFD 019-2024 ATTACH 120-006_Flag Flying Policy_DRAFT 2024
	1.0 Purpose
	2.0 Scope
	3.0 References
	4.0 Definitions
	5.0 Policy
	5.4 Specific Objectives
	5.5 Requests for Flag Flying
	5.6 Responsibilities
	5.7 Half-Masting the Canadian Flag

	6.0 Policy Review

	6d. RFD 020-2024 Repeal of Wolfville_Acadia Town & Gown Policy#120-012
	6d.i 120-012_Wolfville-Acadia Town & Gown Committee_2018-02-20 (Final)
	1.0 Purpose
	2.0 Scope
	3.0 References
	4.0 Definitions
	5.0 Policy

	6d.ii RFD 020-2024 ATTACH 2 MOU_Wolfville_Acadia_ASU Rev. 2023_06_16
	6e. RFD 021-2024 Spring Debenture Issue Pre Approval
	6f. RFD 024-2024 Welcome Centre Extra Costs for Unsuitable Soils
	7a. RFD 025-2024 East End Gateway Parking Lot Budget Amendment



